# FILED

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 3 1982

EDWARD CLIFFORD THOMAS,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. WHITE COURT.

CASE NO. 61,170

## APPELLANT'S BRIEF

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County, Florida (Criminal Division)

SHELDON GOLDING
Special Public Defender
700 S.E. Third Avenue
Suite 200
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33316
(305) 763-2122

Counsel for Appellant

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Jurisdiction vests in this Court pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of the State of Florida, and Florida Statutes 921.141(4) and 924.06 (1977) in that this is a direct appeal from an imposition of the death penalty upon the Defendant's conviction for one of two murders, life sentence having been imposed for the other, and both appeals having been consolidated. The convictions and sentences were imposed in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida.

Appellant was Defendant and Appellee was prosecution in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they appeared in the trial court.

The following symbols, followed by the appropriate page numbers will designate that portion of the record to which this Brief refers:

- T Transcript
- R Record
- D Deposition

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was indicted and tried for two murders, the murder of James P. Walsworth by stabbing on the street outside a homosexual bar in downtown Fort Lauderdale and a subsequent beating of Russell L. Bettis at a nearby location.

Defendant was taken into custody for interrogation by

Fort Lauderdale detectives as a result of information supplied

by Tom Woods, who later appeared as a witness at trial. During

the interrogation which lasted several hours, Defendant con
fessed to both crimes.

Defendant was indicted and his appointed counsel filed and argued a motion to suppress the confession which was denied. The State introduced no physical evidence linking Defendant to the crimes. Tom Woods and the Defendant's father testified on behalf of the State that Defendant had made inculpatory statements.

Defendant testified on his own behalf recanting the confession claiming that he was easily intimidated by the investigating officer and the environment of the interrogation atmosphere. Further testimony was presented by the defense as to the youth of the Defendant, twenty years old, with a textbook improper childhood; wherein his mother had left him at age seven (T 1052), he was raised by a very dominating, brutal father who

could easily be classified as an alcoholic, all of which caused Defendant to do poorly in school, appear socially maladjusted, leave home at age fourteen (T 1053), never progress beyond a fifth grade intelligence level and to display his own propensity toward alcoholism. (T 1034).

Further testimony was presented on behalf of the Defendant as to the implausibility of the content of the Defendant's confession. The Court made a negative remark in the presence of the jury referring to one of Defendant's witnesses.

The jury deliberated a number of hours and delivered a verdict of guilty on both counts of murder. On June 26, 1981 a hearing was had as to the recommendation of sentence by the jury. On August 20, 1981 post-trial motions were set for hearing. At that time counsel for Defendant moved to continue said hearing and set forth adequate reasons to support his contention that he was incompetent to proceed at that hearing. The Court denied his motion and proceeded to conduct the hearing without delay. The jury unanimously recommended life sentences. The Court imposed a sentence of life for the stabbing murder, but imposed a sentence of death for the beating murder.

This appeal is taken from both the verdicts of guilt and the sentence of death imposed by the Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case came before the trial court pursuant to an indictment of the Defendant, Edward Clifford Thomas, accusing him in Count I of the murder of James P. Walsworth, and in Count II of the murder of Russell L. Bettis.

On December 2, 1980 members of the Fort Lauderdale Police Department were called upon to examine the body of a white male upon the street in downtown Fort Lauderdale. Their investigation revealed that the body was that of James P. Walsworth, that he had apparently received multiple stab wounds and died as a result thereof. The scene provided evidence that the victim had been stabbed in or near his automobile, and that there was a great deal of blood in and about the vehicle and the ground where the body lay.

On December 3, 1980 officers of the Fort Lauderdale Police Department were called upon to examine the body of a white male in an alleyway in downtown Fort Lauderdale. Their examination and investigation revealed that the body was that of Russell L. Bettis and that he died as a result of a blow upon the head with a cement block, or as a result of a wound to the head from striking his head upon the cement block.

The investigation continued and as a result of information

provided by a citizen, the investigation centered on Defendant. The Defendant was taken into custody on December 8, 1980 and interrogated for several hours. During that interrogation the Defendant made a taped admission of having stabbed James P. Walsworth and of having beaten Russell L. Bettis.

The indictment was filed on December 18, 1980. The pretrial discovery was conducted and pretrial motions were filed. A motion to dismiss was filed January 13, 1981 challenging the constitutionality of the statute under which the Defendant was indicted. The motion was denied on May 1, 1981. A motion to suppress the confession was filed May 5, 1981 and denied May 14, 1981.

On June 15, 1981 trial commenced. The State presented no physical evidence connecting Defendant to the crimes. The evidence the State presented connecting Defendant to the crimes consisted of testimony from a witness, Tom Woods, and the Defendant's father, that Defendant had made statements of an incriminating nature. In addition thereto a tape of Defendant's confession taken during interrogation was played for the jury.

The Defendant testified in his own behalf, denying the commission of the crimes, recanting the confession and claiming that he was emotionally immature, and drunk while interrogated

by the police. Other witnesses testified on behalf of the Defendant challenging the credibility of the content of the taped confession. At the conclusion of one witness for the defense, the Judge commented in the hearing of the jury "get him out of here", in an obvious derrogatory manner.

At the conclusion of the trial the jury delivered its verdict of guilty as to both counts of murder in the first degree. On June 25, 1981 the Court convened for the purpose of presenting further evidence for obtaining an advisory sentence by the jury. The defense indicated to the Court that it was not prepared, but the Court proceeded. The jury heard evidence on behalf of the Defendant, and argument from the State and the defense. The jury delivered a unanimous advisory sentence of life imprisonment. The Court sentenced the Defendant to life imprisonment on Count I, and imposed the death sentence on Count II.

On August 20, 1981 defense was called upon to argue a motion for new trial that had been filed on July 2, 1981.

Defense counsel asked for a continuance primarily based on his inability to prepare due to his own preoccupation with a Grand Jury considering indicting him. The Court denied his motion for continuance and defense counsel was forced to argue

same while unprepared. Defense motions for a new trial were denied.

We are before this Court to appeal the verdict and sentence in this cause.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

Defendant acknowledges at the outset that the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty has been upheld in <a href="State v. Dixon">State v. Dixon</a>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) and Proffitt v. State, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed. 2d 913 (1976). Defendant, however, urges reconsideration of that decision, especially as applied to Defendant. However, Defendant submits that, as applied, the death sentence was not constitutional and, further, there are State constitutional provisions which must be considered.

Unlike the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which prohibits cruel and unusual punishment, Article I, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution prohibits cruel or unusual punishment. It is Defendant's position that the Florida provision in its disjunctive form enunciates a stricter standard than does the federal proscription. It is settled that each word of the Constitution should be given its intended effect. E.g., Weinberger v. Board of Public Instruction, 93 Fla. 470, 112 So. 253 (1927). Language must be presumed to

have been deliberately used and it is presumed that words have been used according to their natural and popular meaning. E.g., Wilson v. Crews, 160 Fla. 169, 34 So.2d 114 (1948); Schooley v. Judd, 149 So.2d 587 (2D.C.A. Fla. 1963). Therefore, the Florida Constitution proscribes punishment which is either cruel or which is unusual.

Cruelty in the constitutional sense means punishment disproportionate to the offense and which does not serve the needs of society. Eger v. State, 291 So.2d 676 (3 D.C.A. Fla. 1974); Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 368, 381 (1910); Robinson v. California, 370 U.S. 660, 666-667 (1962); Commonwealth v. O'Neal, 339 N.E.2d 676, 679 (1975) (Tauro, C.J., concurring). Capital punishment, involving as it does the taking of life, is qualitatively different from other punishments. Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 287, 306 (1972) (Brennan, J. and Stewart, J., concurring); State v. Dixon, supra, at 7.

Studies show that the convicted felon suffers extreme anguish in anticipation of the extinction of his existence. See Bedeau, The Death Penalty in America, 194, 201 (1967); Solesbee v. Balkcom, 339 U.S. 9, 14 (1950) (Frankfurter, J., dissenting.

It is submitted that in order to uphold the constitutionality of punishment which inflicts such suffering and absolutely extinguishes all rights, the State must advance a substantial justification to demonstrate that the penalty of death is not disproportionate or unnecessary and is thus not cruel in a constitutional sense. See People v. Anderson, (1972) 6 Cal.3d 628, 493 P.2d 880, 100 Cal.Rptr. 152; Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972) at 331-332 (Marshall, J., concurring). It is submitted that the required showing is that of a compelling state interest.

While it is acknowledged that the State has an interest in protecting society, the issue, however, is whether the means chosen, the death sentence, is compelled as the <u>least restrictive</u> means available to further these ends. If the interests can be served by means which do not impair fundamental constitutional rights, here the right to life, to the extent the death penalty does, the punishment is cruel. <u>Cf. Roe v. Wade</u>, 410 U.S. 113 (1973). See also <u>Trop v. Dulles</u>, 356 U.S. 86, 102 (1958).

The penal system can serve three interests: 1)

deterrence; 2) isolation/incapacitation; and 3) retribution

(rehabilitation is of course not relevant to the death sentence).

Packer, The Limits of the Criminal Sanction 35-38 (1968);

Grupp, Theories of Punishment 3-10 (1971). Again the inquiry is not whether death serves these interests but whether it serves them more effectively than imprisonment. See Furman v. Georgia, supra, at 303 (Brennan, J., concurring).

Despite the most exhaustive research by noted experts, there is simply no definitive evidence that the death penalty is a deterrent superior to lesser punishments. In fact, the most convincing studies point in the opposite direction.

Bowers, Executions in America, 19-20, 134-135, 137-163, 193-196 (1974); Grupp, supra, at 181-195.

While isolating murderers in order to prevent similar crimes in the future is a legitimate objective, it is clear that it can be served by less restrictive means. Furman v.

Georgia, supra, at 300-301 (Brennan, J., concurring). Murderers have been shown to be among the lease recidivistic of offenders, either on parole or while in prison. Bedeau, supra, at 395;

Packer, supra, at 52-53. Thus, the State interest can adequately be served by less onerous means.

Defendant submits that while retribution may be a valid objective, grading of punishments according to the crime "does not require that the upper limit of severity be the death penalty". Bedeau, supra, at 268. No assessment of the degree

of punishment necessary to effect retribution is possible, and it cannot be shown that any particular penalty is more supportable in light of these purposes than any other. Further, it is incompatible with an enlightened society to attempt to justify the taking of a life merely for the purpose of vengeance.

Accordingly, Defendant submits that a compelling State interest has not and cannot be shown. The death penalty is not a necessary and least restrictive means for accomplishment of valid State objectives. The death sentence is cruel in the constitutional sense.

Further, Defendant submits that the death sentence in Florida is "unusual" in the constitutional meaning in that it is arbitrarily administered, notwithstanding Proffitt v. State, supra.

Arbitrary selectivity under the death penalty statute is also aggravated by the lack of standards for the operation of the Governor's commutation power. <u>Florida Constitution</u>, Article IV, Section 8(a); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 123 So.2d 703 711 (Fla. 1960).

Therefore, the discretion allowable under the Florida death penalty provision condemns it as "unusual" in the constitutional sense. Defendant also submits that the death sentence

as applied to Defendant was both cruel and unusual. There remains a doubt as to whether Defendant was competent to aid and assist Defense counsel. Such doubt makes the death sentence in this case fundamentally unfair and arbitrary.

Finally, in addition to the question of whether Florida has eliminated arbitrary selectivity in imposing the death penalty, Defendant submits that the death penalty is per se unconstitutional. It is inconsistent with contemporary standards of decency in a maturing society. Trop v. Dulles, supra, at 100; Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975).

In summary, Defendant's position is that the Florida statute is both cruel and unusual, either of which would condemn capital punishment under the Florida disjunctive constitutional provision. The death penalty is cruel and unusual as applied to Defendant and is unconstitutional <u>per se</u>.

#### POINT II

THE COURT ERRED BY IMPROPERLY ADMITTING EVIDENCE OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION.

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, at 1629 (1966) held that "the prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the Defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination". The courts have steadfastly maintained their position and have actually extended the exclusionary rule as applied to confessions. Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590 (1975) 17 CrL 3145.

The primary test for admissibility of a confession is whether it is freely and voluntarily made. Howell v. State, 66 Fla. 210, 63 So. 421 (1913); Jarriel v. State, 317 So.2d 141 (Fla. 4 D.C.A. 1975) cert.den. 328 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1976).

In the case sub judice there is little doubt that the interrogation of the Defendant was custodial rather than investigatory. We have a twenty year old of low intellect, having had no previous experience with the police, who allegedly confessed during an interrogation by two experienced detectives. As the United States Supreme Court stated in Blackburn v. Alabama,

361 U.S. 199, 80 S.Ct. 274, 4 C.Ed. 2d 242 (1960) "This court has recognized that coercion can be mental as well as physical, and that the blood of the accused is not the only hallmark of an unconstitutional inquisition".

We are faced with admission into evidence of a taped "confession" less than thirty minutes duration taken over a period in excess of three hours. (T 33-37). There are gaps and interruptions in the tape, and the content of the tape consists of approximately 85 "questions" wherein the police officer sets forth the facts and to 50 of which the Defendant hardly more than grunts an affirmative response. The officers stated that the information which framed their questions was supplied by Defendant during the interlude in the tapes. It should be further noted that the original interrogation of the Defendant concerned an alleged aggravated battery and that when the interrogation proceeded to the subject homicide the Defendant was not again advised of his rights nor asked to sign another waiver form. (T 41).

The totality of the circumstances support the testimony of the Defendant to the effect that he couldn't cope with the mental pressure of the interrogation. Where an unintelligent, inexperienced youth is in the hands of experienced police officers; where that youth has been under the influence of

alcoholic beverages for a prolonged period of time prior to the interrogation; where that youth has not been intelligently apprised of his rights or the consequences of his statements, there is a great question as to an intelligent waiver or voluntariness of such a confession.

The burden of proof is on the State to establish the voluntariness of a confession by a preponderance of the evidence.

Lego v. Twomey, 92 S.Ct. 619 at 626-627 (1972). In McDole v.

State, 283 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1973) the court stated "we are now in agreement with our highest federal court that proof of voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence is a more appropriate requirement". The motion to suppress the confession should have been granted.

It is also well established that the right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the Fourteenth Amendment. Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 172, 95 S.Ct. 896, 904, 43 L.Ed.2d 103, 113 (1975). The presumption of innocence, although not articulated in the Constitution, is a basic component of a fair trial under our system of criminal justice.

Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 1692, 48 L.Ed.2d 126, (1976).

In 1895, the Supreme Court stated:

"The principle that there is a presumption of innocence in favor of the accused is the undoubted law, axiomatic and elementary, and its enforcement lies at the foundation of the administration of our criminal law." Coffin v. United States, 156 U.S. 432, 453, 15 S.Ct. 394, 403, 39 L.Ed. 481, 491 (1895).

To implement the presumption, courts must be alert to factors that may undermine the fairness of the fact-finding process. In the administration of criminal justice, courts must carefully guard against dilution of the principle that guilt is to be established by probative evidence and beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In Re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1072, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, 375 (1970).

The actual impact of a particular practice on the judgment of jurors cannot always be fully determined. But, the Supreme Court of the United States has left no doubt that the probability of deleterious effects on fundamental rights calls for close judicial scrutiny. Estes v. Texas, 381 U.S. 532, 85 S.Ct. 1628, 14 L.Ed.2d 543 (1965). In Re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 75 S.Ct. 623, 99 L.Ed. 942 (1955). Courts must do the best they can to evaluate the likely effects of a particular procedure, based on reason, principle, and common human experience. Estelle v. Williams, supra, 96 S.Ct. at 1693.

In the case sub judice, there are many subtle errors by the trial court, one of the more significant of which is when the State made a proffer to the Court (T 710) that the witness George Duncan of the Broward Sheriff's Office crime lab was going to testify as to a shirt upon which there were blood stains even though the State could not show that the stains were from the date of the incident or belonged to the victim, James P. Walsworth. The Court being aware that the shirt and blood stains could not be connected to the crime should not have allowed that physical evidence to be introduced. Failing to exclude it provided the State and the jury the ability to make and inference upon and inference.

As the court held in <u>Ellis v. State</u>, 86 Fla. 50, 97 So. 287, if after an examination of the entire case it shall appear that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice, or that because of the error complained of the judgment or decree rendered is illegal or does not accord with substantial justice under the law, the appellate court should reverse the judgment or decree or make appropriate orders in the case.

Any individual error may be harmless, but when the process of inference upon inference is allowed to mushroom, it pervades the whole atmosphere of fairness. <u>Dukes v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 883 (1978).

It is difficult for a jury to remember its function is to drain the swamp, when it is up to its armpits in alligators.

The introduction of non probative evidence only compounds the inability of the accused to receive a fair and impartial trial.

## POINT III

THE COURT ERRED BY PREJUDICIAL CONDUCT PRECLUDING A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL FOR DEFENDANT.

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