### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

EDWARD CLIFFORD THOMAS, )	MAR 24 1982
,	SID J. WHITE
Appellant, )	ELEGIK SUPREME COURT
v. )	CASE NO. 61,170 Chief Populty Clerts
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
)	

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SHARON LEE STEDMAN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-5295 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

that it was harmless error to admit the shirt (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 18). The Appellee submits, however, that the shirt could be construed to be exculpatory to the Appellant in light of the other evidence introduced by the expert, to-wit: blood from the victim's car in which he was murdered which included the presence of human blood on the driver's seat back, the ceiling above the driver's side, the left rear door glass inside, and the front bumper (R 717). In light of the amount of blood found in and around the murder site, the fact that the shirt worn by the accused on the night of the homicide contained only a speck of blood could be construed as exculpatory.

The Appellee's assertion is buttressed by the fact that the expert further testified that approximately four out of every ten items examined from a laundry contained specks or spots of blood (R 718). Further, the Appellant was wearing bib overalls over the shirt and the overalls covered up that part of the shirt that contained the speck of blood (R 719). The overalls contained no blood at all (R 720).

Additionally, a trial judge has broad discretion to determine what evidence is material and relevant. Shale v.

<u>United States</u>, 388 F.2d 616 (5th Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 393

U.S. 984, 89 S.Ct. 456, 21 L.Ed.2d 445 (1969). The trial court specifically found that the shirt was probative evidence (R 710). The Appellant has not met his burden of showing an abuse of discretion. Further, a defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect trial.

#### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR
BY ALLEGED CONDUCT [PRECLUDING
A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL FOR
DEFENDANT].

Robert Redding, the witness most integral to the thrust of the defense, was a self-styled and admitted male prostitute who hustled men for homosexual favors (R 957,1321). The defense presented Redding in order to challenge the content of the Appellant's confession. The Appellant gave as a motive for the killing of the principal, Mr. Walsworth, that Walsworth owed the Appellant \$150.00 for two sex tricks (R 839-841). Witness Redding was called as a defense witness to testify that \$75.00 was an excessive figure, based upon the going rate of hustling and male prostitution for Fort Lauderdale, the area where the murder occurred (R 1321).

At the conclusion of Redding's testimony, the trial court asked if there was anything else (R 966). When defense counsel replied in the negative, the trial court then stated in a soft voice, "Okay. Get him out of here. Next witness" (R 966, 969). When defense counsel objected, the state attorney responded, "Basically, I think the tone of the Court's voice was not that upsetting. And I don't know if the jury heard it, Your Honor, when the court indicated...." (R 968). When the jury returned, the trial court gave a curative instruction that "if I made any offensive remarks regarding the last witness, I hereby instruct you that you should disregard any remarks that the Court made, okay?" (R 969). The defense did not request that the jury be polled in order to ascertain whether

or not the remark was heard. The Appellee submits that if the defense felt that the remark was so prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial or a new trial, questioning the jury would have been appropriate in order to ascertain the prejudicial effect, if there was any.

At the hearing on the motion for new trial, the court reporter present during the trial was called to testify (R 1323). The court reporter testified, "The words were very soft, and I almost didn't hear it myself, and the judge was sitting facing me with almost his back to the jury." (R 1323). The court reporter was approximately three feet from the trial judge while the jury was substantially farther away (R 1324). When defense counsel asked if the trial judge's tone was favorable, the court reporter replied that"(i)t was too low to have any emotion attached to it, one way or the other." (R 1324).

The Appellee submits that in order for a remark made by the trial judge to be so prejudicial as to deprive the Appellant of a fair and impartial trial, the remark must at least be heard by the jury. In <u>Villageliu v. State</u>, 347 So.2d 445 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), the Appellant alleged as error that a comment of the trial judge prejudiced his defense. The court held:

The third point is without merit because it clearly appears that the comment of the trial judge which was made out of the presence of the jury was not prejudicial to the defendant and could not, except with the aid of a most vivid imagination, be said to have intimidated anyone. Judicial comments during a trial must be carefully scrutinized for their possible effect on the jury or a witness.

See the rule in Parise v. State, 320 So.2d 444 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975). Where it appears, as it does here, that the comment could not have prejudiced the defendant's trial in any way, the comment will not be sufficient to require a new trial. Cf. Lister v. State, 226 So.2d 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969).

347 So.2d at 447 (emphasis added). See also, Raulerson v. State, 103 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1958) (a judge errs if he comments on the evidence in the presence of the jury); United States v. Jackson, 470 F.2d 684 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 412 U.S. 951, 93 S.Ct. 3019, 37 L.Ed.2d 1004 (1973)(trial court's judicial aside to the effect that "I wish you could find all the defendants guilty, and punish them, and everything else" did not constitute reversible error since the judge made it clear that the aside was not a statement of the law and since it did not appear that the remark had any influence on the jury's verdict). One of the jurors did, however, testify on August 20, 1981, at the hearing on the motion for new trial that she heard the trial judge say "get out." The juror further testified, though, that the remark did not influence her vote or verdict (R1346-1347). The Appellee respectfully submits that the record on appeal does not support the Appellant's contention that he was denied a fair and impartial trial because of the Hamilton v. State, 366 So.2d 8 (Fla. trial judge's comment. 1978).

As to the alleged error of the trial court in denying defense counsel's motion for continuance, a motion for continuance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal unless a clear abuse

of that discretion is demonstrated. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hicks v. Wainwright</u>, 633 F.2d 1146 (5th Cir. 1981); <u>United States v. Cueto</u>, 611 F.2d 1056 (Fla. 1980); <u>United States v. Harbin</u>, 601 F.2d 773 (5th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 444 U.S. 954, 100 S.Ct. 433, 62 L.Ed.2d 327 (1979). The denial of a motion for continuance should not be reversed by the appellate court unless there has been palpable abuse of the court's sound judicial discretion, which appears clearly and affirmatively in the record. <u>Magill v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 1980).

In the instant case, defense counsel moved for a new trial on July 2, 1981. A hearing was held on the motion approximately six weeks later, August 20, 1981. At that time defense counsel requested a continuance on the ground that he (the defense counsel) had himself been arrested and had been concentrating on exonerating himself; therefore, he did not have time to prepare the motion (R 1334). The motion for new trial was the only motion argued on August 20, 1981. One of the jurors was present as a defense witness. The Appellee submits that there has been no showing of palpable abuse of discretion and, therefore, this Court should refuse to say the trial court committed error. Id.

#### POINT IV

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS A CONVICTION OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER ON COUNT II IN THE INDICTMENT OF THE DEFENDANT.

By the Appellant's own admission, victim Bettis had been the only witness to the murder of Walsworth and that he, the Appellant, had made up his mind that he would have to take care of Bettis (R 833,843). The Appellant saw Bettis witness the murder so he decided to finish it. The Appellant had the specific intention of "(g)etting rid of him, too." (R 847). The Appellant hit Bettis in the face and broke his jaw; kicked him in the face while wearing regular dress shoes when Bettis attempted to get up; kicked him in the ribs when Bettis again attempted to get up; and when Bettis attempted to get up again, the Appellant hit him again in the face (R 809-810). The Appellant was very muscular and was to become a professional boxer the week after his arrest (R 752,818).

Florida Statutes 782.04(1)(a), defines first degree murder as the unlawful killing of a human being, when perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed. The Appellant had the specific intent of killing the victim and carried this intent out by mercilessly beating the life out of him. The police officer who responded to the scene observed that the victim was unconscious and could not get any vital signs on him (R 303). The victim was admitted to the hospital unconscious and remained continuously so until he died on May 16, 1981 (R 446-447). The medical examiner who per-

formed the autopsy testified that he died as a result of blunt injuries to his head and that he determined the manner of death to be homicide (R 449).

Premeditated design to effect the death of a human being is a fully formed and conscious purpose to take human life, formed upon reflection and deliberation, entertained in the mind before and at the time of the homicide. Matthews v. State, 130 Fla. 53, 177 So. 321 (1938); Forehand v. State, 126 Fla. 464, 171 So. 241 (1937); Littles v. State, 384 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Weaver v. State, 220 So.2d 53 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1969). Premeditation may be established by circumstantial evidence. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911, 96 S.Ct. 3227, 49 L.Ed.2d 1221, reh. denied, 429 U.S. 874, 97 S.Ct. 194, 50 L.Ed.2d 157 (1976).

In the instant case, however, circumstantial evidence was not needed as the Appellant confessed to the premeditation by declaring that he had the express purpose of finding victim rid of him, too" (R 847). Bettis in order "to get Appellant, once he found Bettis, proceeded to carry out his premeditated design to effect Bettis' death. The Appellant used his hands and feet to brutally beat Bettis until blood came from his jaw due to the jaw being broken, swelling started immediately over his left eye, and there was blood on the sidewalk and the concrete wall (R 810, 811, 817). The victim offered no resistance at all (R 818). The Appellant stated that he did not know if Bettis was conscious or not when the Appellant left but his eyes were open although not moving (R 817). The Appellee submits that from the above recitation

of the facts by the Appellant it is reasonable to assume that the Appellant either knew Bettis was dead or was soon to die, especially in light of his testimony that he went to find Bettis in order to finish him off. The fact that Bettis lived for five months is totally irrelevant since expert testimony was provided to prove that it was the beating that killed Bettis (R 449).

The Appellant's allegation that the fatal injury was caused when the victim struck his head on a bottle or cement block in falling is not supported by the record (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 27). The Appellee submits, however, that even if this fact were true, it would not lessen the Appellant's culpability as the fall was due to the force of Appellant viciously beating the victim with the express purpose of getting rid of him. See Hitchock v. State, Case No. 51,108 (1982 F.L.W. 99)[Feb. 25, 1982](defendant choked and beat the victim and pushed her body into some bushes after the victim said she was going to tell her mother that the defendant had had sexual relations with her).

#### POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY IMPOSING THE DEATH SENTENCE FOR THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION ON COUNT II.

After two jury verdicts of guilty of the crimes of murder in the first degree, the jury returned an advisory sentence recommending that life sentences be imposed (R 1526, 1527, 1537, 1538). The trial judge adjudicated the Defendant guilty (R 1528, 1529). After carefully considering and weighing all the evidence presented during the trial and sentencing procedure, the trial judge, pursuant to the safeguards afforded by §921.141, Florida Statutes, entered written detailed findings of fact in support of the death penalty (R 1545-1548). judge specifically found three aggravating circumstances existed as to Count II: (1) that at the time of the crime for which he is to be sentenced, the Defendant had been previously convicted of another capital offense; (2) that the crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; (3) that the crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws; (4) that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (5) that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The trial judge found two mitigating circumstances: (1) that the Defendant has no significant history or prior criminal acitivity and (2) the age of the Defendant at the time of the crime.

The Appellee acknowledges that the trial court erred in doubling up the aggravating circumstances by finding that the murder was committed to avoid arrest and committed to disrupt or hinder enforcement of law. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981). The trial court properly found that the murder was to avoid arrest but did err by also finding that the murder was committed to disrupt or hinder enforcement of law. Id. at 1164; Vaught v. State, Case No. 52,835 (1982 F.L.W. 13)[January 15, 1982].

The Appellee respectfully submits that the four remaining aggravating circumstances far outweigh the two mitigating circumstances. The facts suggesting the sentence of death are so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). could differ. Appellant brutally murdered victim Walsworth because the victim owed the Appellant \$150.00 (R 841). The Appellant stabbed the victim with a seven-and-a-half-inch kitchen type knife that he had expressly taken with him in order to murder the principal (R 845,846). After he murdered the principal, he pulled the victim from the victim's car and noticed out of the side of his eye that Bettis had witnessed the murder (R 842). The Appellant then threw away the knife and went and had a hamburger (R 847,850).

At the moment the Appellant saw Bettis, he formed the specific intention of murdering Bettis (R 847). The Appellant effected his premeditated design by brutally and viciously beating the victim with his fists and kicking him with his feet until Bettis lapsed into a critical unconscious condition that

lingered on for five months. After each beating, which lasted a total of approximately four minutes, the Appellant took his time in letting the victim get back up which, the Appellee submits, increased the fear and agony of the victim.

The Appellee respectfully submits that Appellant's conduct in murdering Bettis solely because he was a witness to the first murder was a cruel, senseless destruction of human life and the only appropriate penalty under Florida law is death. The instant capital felony is set apart, by the existence of four statutory aggravating circumstances, from the norm of capital felonies, there are only two mitigating circumstances, and the sentencing judge has given due consideration to the recommendation of the jury, then the Appellee respectfully submits that a sentence of death should be affirmed by this Honorable Court. See Dobbert v. State, 375 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1979), cert. denied, 447 U.S. 912, 100 S.Ct. 3000, 64 L.Ed.2d 862 (1980); Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975); Gardner v. State, 313 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 908, 96 S.Ct. 3219, 49 L.Ed.2d 1216 (1976); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974).

This Court has upheld the imposition of the death sentence despite the Defendant's youthful age and lack of any prior, significant criminal activity. Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 919, 100 S.Ct. 239, 62 L.Ed.2d 176 (1979); Meeks v. State, 339 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1976). Thus, the trial judge's error in doubling up the two aggravating circumstances was harmless since it did not affect the weighing

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